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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR DES MOINES COUNTY 
 
STATE OF IOWA    ) 
      ) 
   Petitioner,  ) Case No.: FECR008466 
      ) 
vs      ) MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL                  
      ) &  
MARKELL PRICE    ) MOTION IN ARREST OF JUDGMENT 
      )  
   Defendant.  ) 
 
 
 COMES NOW the Defendant, Markell Price, by and through his attorneys, Heidi D. Van 

Winkle and Joshua P. Schier, and in support of his Motion for a New Trial pursuant to Iowa Rule 

of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(b)(5), 2.24(2)(b)(6), 2.24(2)(b)(9) and Motion in Arrest of Judgment 

pursuant to Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(3) respectfully states to the Court as follows: 

1. Defendant was charged with one count Murder in the First Degree and one count of 

Kidnapping in the First Degree. 

2. On August 13, 2019 a jury in Des Moines County returned a guilty verdict as the charge 

of Murder in the Second Degree and Kidnapping in the Third Degree. 

3. The Defendant incorporates into this Motion all arguments made previously on the record 

during trial.  

 

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 

4. Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(b)(5), Defendant requests a new trial 

because the Court has erred in the decision of a question of law during the course of trial. 

a. The Defendant was prevented from calling a key witness, Stanley Baldwin.   

i. Mr. Baldwin was the first person present on the day of the incident and the 

last person to leave the scene, so he was available to witness everything 

that happened.   

ii. Mr. Baldwin was not charged with any level of Murder or Kidnapping. 

iii. Despite the fact that he was not charged with either Murder or 

Kidnapping, Mr. Baldwin was allowed to make a blanket assertion that he 

would invoke his 5th Amendment rights because his testimony would 
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incriminate himself. 

iv. In State v. Heard, the Iowa Court of Appeals addressed this issue.  The Court 

cited Harris v. United States, stating that a witness’s Fifth Amendment 

privilege “is narrower than that of a defendant, and extends only to specific 

questions; it does not encompass a refusal to take the stand at all.” State v. 

Heard, 2019 Iowa App. LEXIS 45, *7-8, quoting Harris v. United States, 614 

A.2d 1277, 1282 (D.C. 1992).  Further, “a witness is not exonerated from 

answering merely because he declares that in so doing he would 

incriminate himself – his say-so does not of itself establish the hazard of 

incrimination.” Id. at *8, quoting Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486, 

71 S. Ct. 814, 95 L. Ed. 1118 (1951).  The Court determined that the witness 

“could only assert the privilege in response to specific questions to which 

his answers would incriminate him.” Heard at *9.  The Court held that “the 

district court’s failure to determine the extent and validity of Brown’s 

reported assertion of his Fifth Amendment privilege on his second round 

of testimony result in a violation of Heard’s right to compulsory process.”  

Id. at *11.  Simply put, “[the witness’s] unequivocal statement of his intent 

to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege is not sufficient to justify his 

blanket claim of privilege.” Id. at *11. 

v. In the present case, the Court allowed Mr. Baldwin to make the 

determination that his answers would incriminate himself.  He was never 

presented with specific questions, nor was the Court ever presented with 

specific questions to determine the extent and validity of Mr. Baldwin’s 

assertion of his Fifth Amendment privilege. 

vi. Further, the Court never brought the witness in to ask whether he desired 

to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege.  There is not a clear record 

establishing his assertion only the statements of his attorney and no 

statements specifically outlining that she spoke with him about it.    

vii. Because the Court erred in ruling that Mr. Baldwin could not testify, the 

Defendant has a right to a new trial under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 

2.24(2)(b)(5). 
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b. The Defendant was not allowed to introduce the recorded 911 CALL into evidence. 

i. At trial the Defendant sought to introduce the recorded 911 call made by 

the State’s primary witness, Owen Laird. 

ii. The State objected on the ground that the 911 call was hearsay. 

iii. The Court sustained the State’s objection without allowing the Defendant 

to offer any argument on the objection. 

iv. There is clear case law that 911 calls are admissible at trial and fall within 

multiple hearsay exceptions such as present sense impression or excited 

utterance.  See State v. Augustine, Iowa App. 458 N.W.2d (1990) 859 at 860-

861; Bennett v. State, Iowa App. Lexis 922 (2004) at *5-*6; State v. Moore, Iowa 

App. Lexis 629 (2012) at *7-*8; State v. Wright, Iowa App. Lexis 88 (2015) at 

*3-*6. 

v. The defendant was prejudiced by the fact that the 911 call was excluded 

from evidence. 

vi. Because the Court erred in excluding the 911 call from evidence, the 

Defendant has a right to a new trial under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 

2.24(2)(b)(5). 

 

5. Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(b)(6), Defendant requests a new trial 

because the verdict was contrary to law or evidence. 

a. There was insufficient evidence to convict the Defendant beyond a reasonable 

doubt of either charge. 

 

MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE 

b. To prove that the Defendant committed Murder in the Second Degree, the State 

must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the following elements: 

i. On or about the 17th day of March, 2019, the Defendant or another he aided 

and abetted struck Edward Alan Breuer. 

ii. Edward Alan Breuer died as a result of being struck. 

iii. The Defendant acted with malice aforethought, and/or aided and abetted 

E-FILED  2019 SEP 23 8:14 PM DES MOINES - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT



Page 4 of 8 
 

another, with knowledge the other had malice aforethought. 

c. There was no physical evidence in this case that linked the Defendant to 

murdering or even assaulting the victim.  The only physical evidence presented 

showed the victim’s blood on two other individuals who assaulted the victim prior 

to the Defendant’s arrival at the scene, Stanley Baldwin and Owen Laird. 

d. The evidence in this case was entirely testimonial.  The testimony from the State’s 

witnesses was severely lacking in credibility.  The State’s primary witness, Owen 

Laird, the only witness who allegedly was present inside the home with the 

Defendant during the kidnapping and murder, had previously confessed to the 

murder, admitted to assaulting and kidnapping the victim, and gave several 

contradictory stories throughout this case to the police, to family members, during 

depositions, and during trial.  During trial the witness admitted to making 

admissions regarding the murder.   

e. None of the State’s witnesses testified to seeing the Defendant, Markell Price, 

strike the victim at any time.   

f. The State’s other witnesses admitted to being afraid of and intimidated by the 

State’s primary witness.  The State’s other witnesses also gave several 

contradictory statements throughout this case.  None of the State’s other witnesses 

testified to seeing the Defendant strike or harm the victim. 

g. No evidence was presented that the Defendant acted with malice aforethought. 

 

KIDNAPPING IN THE THIRD DEGREE 

h. To prove that the Defendant committed Kidnapping the Third Degree, the State 

must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the following elements: 

i. On or about the 17th day of March, 2019, the Defendant and/or another he 

aided and abetted confined Edward Alan Breuer. 

ii. The Defendant and/or another he aided and abetted did so with the 

specific intent to inflict serious injury upon Edward Alan Breuer. 

iii. The Defendant knew he did not have the consent of Edward Alan Breuer 

to do so and/or he aided and abetted another with knowledge the other 

did not have the consent of Edward Alan Breuer to do so. 
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i. The State presented evidence that two other individuals, first Stanley Baldwin and 

then Owen Laird, assaulted and confined the victim before the Defendant was 

even present. 

j. The only evidence presented in regard to kidnapping was that the Defendant 

walked inside a house with the victim.  No witness testified to the Defendant 

confining the victim without the victim’s consent.   

 

6. Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(b)(9), the Defendant requests a new 

trial because the Defendant did not receive a fair and impartial trial. 

a. In Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), *215 the 

Supreme Court held that a prosecutor could not use his peremptory challenges to 

engage in purposeful racial discrimination. Batson, 476 U.S. at 100, 106 S.Ct. at 

1725, 90 L.Ed.2d at 90.  State v. Mootz, 808 N.W.2d 207, 214–15 (Iowa 2012), as 

corrected (Feb. 22, 2012), as corrected (Apr. 9, 2012)   

Courts use the Batson test to determine if a litigant is using peremptory 

challenges to engage in purposeful racial discrimination. The Supreme Court has 

summarized the Batson test as follows: 

Under our Batson jurisprudence, once the opponent of a 

peremptory challenge has made out a prima facie case of racial 

discrimination (step one), the burden of production shifts to the 

proponent of the strike to come forward with a race-neutral 

explanation (step two). If a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the 

trial court must then decide (step three) whether the opponent of 

the strike has proved purposeful racial discrimination. State v. 

Mootz, 808 N.W.2d 207, 215 (Iowa 2012), as corrected (Feb. 22, 2012), 

as corrected (Apr. 9, 2012). 

A Batson challenge involves a three-step process.  Importantly, when the party 

seeking to strike potential juror gives a race neutral reason, the Court must make 

a determination as to whether the reason given is a pretext for racial 

discrimination.  "After the striking party offers its race-neutral reason for the 

strike, the district court must then determine whether the “stated reason 
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constitutes a pretext for racial discrimination.” Hernandez, 500 U.S. at 363, 111 S.Ct. 

at 1868, 114 L.Ed.2d at 408.  

In this matter the reasons given for the strike of the potential juror are 

simply pretextual and are racial discrimination.  One of the reasons given was that 

the juror had worn a shirt with a picture of a cat.  If the Court is seriously going to 

allow jurors to be struck because they were shirts with pictures of cats, then any 

juror can be struck and Constitutional requirements which are protected by Batson 

are meaningless. 

Another reason given by the State was that the juror worked second shift 

and would be at work during the evening.  However, the juror indicated that she 

would be able to stay awake and focused at trial. 

The third reason given was that the potential juror had answered a 

question different at the last trial.  However, there is no record of this and no way 

to establish that this is actually true.  The State presented no transcripts showing 

the juror has in fact answered any questions differently at a prior trial. 

In this case the Court found that the reasons provided by the State were 

not pretextual and allowed the African American potential juror to be removed.  

Therefore, it must be asked, would the Court find that a white juror should not be 

allowed to serve on a jury because the white juror wore a shirt with a picture of a 

cat?  Most likely this answer is No. 

Further, would the Court find that a white juror was not able to serve on a 

jury because they worked second shift?  It must be remembered that in this matter 

the potential juror indicated that she could concentrate and focus at trial even 

though she worked second shift.  However, even though the juror stated this, the 

Court found this was not correct.  Therefore, the Court either believed the potential 

juror was lying or decided the Court knew better.  Once again, the question must 

be asked, if this juror were white would the Court find they were not being honest 

or determine that the Court knew better than the potential juror?  Once again, this 

answer is No. 

Finally, the Court also found that since the juror had allegedly changed an 

answer from a prior trial, this juror should be removed.  As set forth above, there 
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is absolutely no proof that this actually happened.  The State presented no 

transcripts of the prior jury selection and no witnesses were presented as to this 

allegation.  Importantly, the potential juror never stated this was correct. 

If the Court is going to allow the State to make allegations that cannot be 

verified and the Court has no way to know if are true or not, then once again there 

is no reason to even consider Batson challenges as this gives no protection to the 

Defendant which is the purpose of Batson. 

For these reasons, when the Court allowed an African American juror to 

be removed for clearly a pretext for racial discrimination, the Court erred in 

removing the African American juror and a new trial must be granted. 

 

MOTION FOR ARREST OF JUDGMENT 

7. Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(3), the Defendant requests an Arrest of 

Judgment because based upon the whole record, no legal judgment can be pronounced. 

a. No evidence was presented on the record which proved beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Defendant Markell Price committed the crimes of Murder in the Second 

Degree and Kidnapping in the Third Degree. 

b. The record shows no physical evidence linking the Defendant to the crime. 

c. The only evidence contained in the record was testimonial.  The testimony of the 

State’s witnesses was severely lacking in credibility.  The witnesses’ stories 

contradicted earlier versions that they gave during sworn depositions, as pointed 

out during trial on the record.  The witnesses’ stories contradicted each other 

during the trial. 

d. None of the witnesses testified to seeing the Defendant, Markell Price, strike the 

victim at any time. 

WHEREFORE, the Defendant respectfully requests that the Court enter an Order 

arresting judgment and Ordering a new trial. 

    

       RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
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/s/ Heidi D. Van Winkle 
____________________________ 
Heidi D. Van Winkle AT008160 
204 Jefferson St. 
P.O. Box 486 
Burlington, IA 52601 
(319)752-4585 
(319)752-4586 
heidivanwinkleattorney@gmail.com 
Attorney for Defendant 

 

      
/s/ Joshua P. Schier  

Joshua P. Schier, AT0012369 

Cray Law Firm, PLC 

420 N. Roosevelt Ave., Ste. 110 

Burlington, IA 52601  

Phone: 319-752-4537 

Fax: 319-753-2712 

Email: jpschier@craylawfirm.com 

       ATTORNEY FOR THE DEFENDANT 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DES MOINES COUNTY 
In Re the Marriage of ELIZABETH ANNE SANKUS and STEVE T. SANKUS 

 
 

Upon the Petition of 
ELIZABETH ANNE SANKUS n/k/a 
ELIZABETH ANNE VAUGHN, 
     

Petitioner, 
       
And Concerning,    Equity CDCV004961 

 
STEVE T. SANKUS, 
 

Respondent.  
 

CLOSING ARGUMENT 
 

COMES NOW, the undersigned, as Guardian Ad Litem for the minor child, T.J.S., 

and for his Closing Argument states as follows: 

I. Modification of Custody 

 Both parties in this matter agree that the general principles guiding a Court’s 

decision to modify custody have been well-established in Iowa. A party must show 

substantial and material changes in circumstances that were not contemplated by the 

court when the decree was entered, and these changes are not temporary. In re Marriage 

of Frederici, 338 N.W.2d 156, 158 (Iowa 1983).  For a parent who wishes to modify physical 

care, the burden is even greater, requiring the parent seeking the change to show the 

ability to offer superior care. In re Marriage of Malloy, 687 N.W.2d 110, 113 (Iowa Ct. App 

2004). Any custody decision must keep in mind that the standard is the best interest of 

the child – “physical care issues are not to be resolved based upon perceived fairness to 

the spouses, but primarily upon what is best for the child. The objective of a physical care 
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determination is to place the children in the environment most likely to bring them to 

health, both physically and mentally, and to social maturity.” In re Marriage of Hansen, 

733 N.W.2d 683, 695 (Iowa 2007). 

 When determining what is in the best interest of the child, the court must look to 

a number of factors, as each custody case is unique. Among these factors, the Iowa Code 

states that the court shall consider “whether the custody arrangement is in accord with 

the child’s wishes or whether the child has strong opposition, taking into consideration 

the child’s age and maturity.” Iowa Code 598.41(3)(f). The courts have long agreed, 

holding that the “preferences of minor children while not controlling are relevant and 

cannot be ignored.” Meyer v. Harris, 2015 Iowa App. LEXIS 515*, 868 N.W.2d 202, *9 (Iowa 

App. 2015). When considering the child’s preferences and what weight to give those 

preferences, the court looks at “his age and education level, the strength of his preference, 

his relationship with family members, and the reasons he gives for his decision.” In re 

Marriage of Jahnel, 506 N.W.2d 473, 475 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993). 

II. Elizabeth Vaughn’s Petition for Modification 

Elizabeth contends that there has been a substantial and material change in 

circumstances, that a) T  went to Delaware for his summer 2019 visitation and did 

not return as planned on August 18, 2019, and b) Steve intended to enroll T  in school 

in Delaware and requested his transcripts. The fact that T ’s return trip was initially 

cancelled and that he wished to remain in Delaware following the summer of 2019 is 

undisputed. Elizabeth, Steve, and T  all testified to these facts during the trial. It was 

also agreed that Steve and T  desired for T  to attend school in Delaware and 
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Steve did request T ’s transcripts from Burlington Notre Dame.  

Steve’s cancellation of the return ticket for T , and his request for transcripts 

with the intention to enroll T  in a Delaware school, were certainly recent changes in 

circumstances, as testified to and stated in Respondent’s Closing Argument (Respondent’s 

Closing Argument, 7). With the exception of his visits to Delaware, T  had lived in 

Burlington his entire life and attended school in Burlington. T ’s failure to return and 

enrollment in a Delaware school was not contemplated by the Court in the original 

decree. 

Elizabeth’s claim appears to be based solely on Steve’s actions, and not on T ’s 

desires, which Steve purports are the motives behind his actions. Because Elizabeth’s 

claim is based on Steve’s actions, her argument that there has been a substantial change 

in circumstances fails as Steve’s actions were not permanent. T ’s failure to return 

was temporary, and T  did in fact return to Iowa on August 26, 2019. Elizabeth argues 

that the only reason for this return was her legal action. (Petitioner’s Closing Argument, 8). 

While T ’s return did comply with this Court’s order, that does not change the fact 

that he did return. T  has since had visitation over Christmas break in Delaware and 

did return from that trip without incident. Furthermore, T  returned to Burlington 

Notre Dame on the first day of school, and he has remained enrolled in school there 

throughout the current school year. Therefore, it can be argued that Steve’s cancellation 

of T ’s return ticket and intention to enroll T  in a Delaware school was 

temporary, and not permanent, and thus there has been no substantial change in 

circumstance to justify Elizabeth’s request for a modification. 
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If the Court accepts Elizabeth’s argument that Steve’s actions constituted a 

substantial change in circumstances that warranted modification, her requested change 

fails because it is not in T ’s best interest. The testimony and evidence presented 

clearly showed that T  has a very strong connection to his father and a strong 

emotional bond with him. Regardless of whether T ’s relationship with his mother 

has suffered because of her actions or some other unknown reason, the fact remains that 

T  feels closer to his father, particularly since the death of his paternal grandparents. 

He maintains daily contact with his father and his stepmother and feels that they offer 

him a great deal of emotional support. This was testified to by both T  and Steve. 

Elizabeth also recognizes T ’s close connection to his father, as she has not limited 

T ’s ability to communicate with Steve and even allowed T  to spend several 

hours each evening prior to the trial with his father. (Petitioner’s Closing Argument, 7). 

Elizabeth testified that she believes Steve’s parenting time needs to be limited, as the 

current visitation is too long for T  to go without communicating to her. This does 

not show a concern about what is best for the child, but rather what is best for the parent, 

which is clearly not the standard. If Elizabeth is truly committed to “meet any and all of 

T ’s emotional needs,” as indicated in her testimony and in Petitioner’s Closing 

Argument, then she should recognize the importance of T ’s time with his father. 

(Petitioner’s Closing Argument, 4). For that reason, it would not be in T ’s best interest 

to reduce his visitation with Steve.  
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III. Steve Sankus’ Petition for Modification  

Steve has also argued that there has been a substantial and material change in 

circumstances. Based upon the evidence presented at trial, the substantial and material 

change in circumstances is T ’s desire to now reside with his father in Delaware. A 

move across the country, to a home that he has never resided full time in, is certainly a 

substantial and material change. As stated above in relation to Elizabeth’s argument, 

T ’s desire to live with his father was first expressed in the summer of 2019, so it is a 

recent change that was not contemplated at the time of the decree. Where Steve’s 

argument differs from Elizabeth’s and succeeds while hers fails is that T ’s desire to 

live with his father is not a temporary change, but a permanent one. T  has but one 

year left of high school, and during that time it is extremely unlikely that he would change 

his mind regarding his living situation, particularly given his unwavering adherence to 

his desire to live with his father over the last year in spite of the opposition from his 

mother and brother.  

As the Respondent pointed out in his Closing Argument, a child’s desire to live 

with a parent, in the right circumstances, can be the primary factor in showing a 

substantial change of circumstances (Respondent’s Closing Argument, page 5, citing In 

re Kueter, 828 N.W.2d 325 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013). The courts have agreed with this 

argument. (see Jahnel at 474; In re Marriage of Reinking, 2016 Iowa App. Lexis 624*, 885 

N.W.2d 220, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016); and In re Marriage Hopp, 2012 Iowa App. Lexis 667*, 

821 N.W.2d 777, *12 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012)). In Jahnel, the parties’ fifteen-year-old son left 

his mother’s home and moved into his father’s home, and that served as the basis for the 
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modification. Jahnel at 474. In Reinking, the parties’ fifteen-year-old son’s “strong 

preference” to live with his father led the Court to determine that a substantial change in 

circumstances had occurred. Reinking at *2. Similarly, in Hopp, the Court of Appeals 

agreed with the District Court which “found there had been a substantial change in 

circumstances due to the children’s express preferences to live with [their father].” Hopp 

at *12. The case law shows that when the courts are presented with older, mature 

teenagers who express a desire to change homes, that desire can be viewed as a 

substantial change in circumstances. 

In addition to proving there has been a substantial change in circumstances, the 

evidence at trial also showed that Steve could offer superior care to the minor child. The 

condition of the Petitioner’s home has nothing to do with whether or not Steve could 

provide superior care. Elizabeth has cared for T for the last sixteen years, and no one 

disputes that T  is an exceptional young man who has excelled in school and a variety 

of extracurricular activities. As pointed out in the Petitioner’s Closing Argument, the 

condition of Elizabeth’s home is nothing new, and Steve doesn’t have any safety concerns 

regarding his other son, B , remaining in the home.  

Steve would be able to provide superior care to T  because Steve has a closer 

bond and relationship with T r. There is no doubt that Elizabeth (and Jon) have done 

something right in raising T , and he would not be the young man he is today 

without their support. But to say that “Steve has had no role in performing parenting 

duties with respect to T ’s education or extra-curricular activities” does not 

accurately portray Steve’s relationship with T . (Petitioner’s Closing Argument, 6). No, 
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Steve has not attended parent-teacher conferences or provided transportation for T  

to extracurriculars. But Steve has communicated with T , encouraged T , and 

offered support to T . The geographic distance between Steve and T  prevents 

Steve from being as active a parent as someone local. That being said, Elizabeth admitted 

herself during testimony that she has missed many of T ’s events or activities and 

has scant knowledge of T ’s interests because she has to divide her time between her 

other children at all. This is not to criticize Elizabeth, but merely to point out that there is 

more to parenting than to attend each activity or parent teacher conference, or to 

providing transportation. Emotional support and encouragement, particularly at this 

point in T ’s life as he prepares to make decisions that will shape his future, is also a 

key parenting role. 

T  testified to his bond with his father and cited that as his primary reason for 

wanting to live with his father. As stated in the Respondent’s Closing Argument, the 

courts have often found that in the right circumstances a child’s wishes should be given 

great weight. Teenage children in particular have their preference taken into 

consideration by the courts. For example, the court in In re Marriage of Lindemier agreed 

with a modification of custody in part at least because of the children’s “sincere desires” 

to live with their father, which “were much more than their belief they would ‘have more 

things at his home.’” In re Marriage of Lindemier, 2015 Iowa App. LEXIS 417*, 867 N. W.2d 

195, *14 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015). Similarly, in Meyer, the Court  

agreed with the district with the district court’s conclusion that 

the child’s preference should be entitled to considerable weight. 

As the court stated: 
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R.A.M. is fifteen years of age. She is a straight A student in the 

Riverside School System, and she is third in her class. She is active 

with extracurricular activities, including Volleyball. R.A.M. is 

interested in culinary arts and wants to pursue education in that 

area after high school. R.A.M. was described as socially outgoing, 

goal-setting, fit, mature, healthy, and with a good attitude. There 

is no evidence that either parent pressured R.A.M. to state a 

preference…. Evidence was presented in part that R.A.M.’s 

preference was based, in part, on her perception of the quality of 

education that she will receive in Washington as opposed to 

Iowa…. Given R.A.M.’s academic performance, maturity, and 

the reasons she has given for her parental preference, her 

preference is entitled to considerable weight. Meyer at *11-*12. 

 

As stated earlier, the child’s preference in Reinking was not only the substantial change, 

but also the justification for the change of custody. The District Court found the minor 

child, J.R., to be “a mature, well-adjusted teenager who has expressed a genuine and 

legitimate preference for a change in placement” including career goals, his relationship 

with each parent, and his desire to be part of his father’s faith. Reinking at *3. The Court 

of Appeals agreed with the District Court’s modification, stating that “J.R. is of sufficient 

age and maturity for the court to consider his preference.” Id. at *4.  

The courts do not just listen to teenagers when they want to change homes, but 

also take into account their wishes when they do not want to modify a current custody 

arrangement. In the case of In re Marriage of Stahr, the teenage daughters did not want to 

change the current custody arrangement. The District Court did not modify, and the 

Court of Appeals agreed, stating “we give weight to the statements and preferences of 

these two teenagers because of their age and both appear by their testimony to be mature, 

intelligent, and have provided a reasonable explanation for their opinion.” In re Marriage 
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of Stahr, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 148*, 913 N.W.2d 274, *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018). Like the 

children in the above-cited cases, T  is an older teenager who has excelled in school, 

been involved in extra-curricular activities, and shown himself to be a thoughtful and 

mature young man. For those reasons, the Court should give great weight to his wishes. 

The Petitioner’s Closing Argument challenged T ’s “maturity and credibility.” 

(Petitioner’s Closing Argument, 4). Yes, T ’s testimony was far from polished and at 

times he appeared confused and inconsistent regarding dates or times, such as school 

drop off times for “0 hour.” It must be pointed out, however, that a sixteen-year-old child, 

though mature for his age, was being cross-examined by an experienced attorney on the 

issue of his unhappiness in his mother’s home, a topic that was very difficult to express. 

The uncomfortableness of testifying in trial often leaves grown adults looking confused, 

unsure, emotional, and at times immature. Even though T wishes to reside with his 

father, that does not mean he does not care for his mother, as is evident from the emotion 

he showed on the stand and the emotion he showed when confronting his mother in 

Exhibit O.  

Better evidence of T ’s maturity can be seen in his actions. Although T  

adamantly wished to stay with his father last summer, he returned to Iowa when ordered 

by the Court. T  did not attempt to run away. He did not throw fits or tantrums, or 

cause disruptions in his home. To Elizabeth and Jon’s credit, they have given T  

space, have not pressed him on his reasons for wanting to leave, and have arranged 

counseling for T . But, as Elizabeth testified to, they did not have any trouble getting 

T  to come home, go to school, and do what he is supposed to do throughout the past 
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year. Further, T  participated in some of his old activities, such as band and wrestling 

during the past year. Elizabeth testified that she felt T  was holding back from 

activities because of the case. Yet B ’s testimony revealed that he too had eliminated 

almost all his own activities during the last school year. Rather than showing some kind 

of lack of maturity or attempt to sabotage his placement in Burlington, T ’s change 

in activities can be viewed in the same light as B ’s – a teenager’s interests in activities 

change and evolve over time and any given year can change. 

The statements and actions of the Petitioner contradict her contention that T  

lacks maturity. Elizabeth for years has recognized some level of maturity in T , as 

she has let him babysit his younger siblings. Further, in her testimony, Elizabeth stated 

that T  was a mature kid and she took pride in that fact. Elizabeth testified to all that 

T has accomplished in school, his many extracurricular activities, and traditionally 

his willingness to assist with his siblings or with chores around the home.  

Where Ta ’s testimony was consistent and credible was in his assertion that his 

relationship with his brother had previously been very close but had deteriorated greatly 

after his paternal grandparent’s death. Furthermore, T  was quite consistent in his 

testimony that he did not feel he had a close relationship with his mother and did not 

view her as someone he could confide in or go to for emotional support. Finally, T r 

was adamant in his testimony that he wished to live with his father because their 

relationship was very close, and he viewed his father as a caring individual whom he 

could confide in and seek support from.  

T  has put a great deal of thought into his decision to live with his father. He 
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has explored this with his therapist for the past several months and has written down his 

thoughts, as was evident by the journal he testified about during trial. T  has looked 

at colleges and wishes to attend the University of Delaware after serving in the Air Force. 

Living with his father would allow him to establish in-state tuition, a significant savings. 

Also, living with his father prior to joining the Air Force would allow T  to be 

stationed at a base closer to his family in Delaware, whereas joining in Iowa would force 

him to relocate to Colorado. T  has extended family and friends in Delaware and 

enjoys their company and support. T ’s decision to reside with his father is not 

simply that of a petulant child rebelling against the rules of one parent, or looking for a 

more comfortable life with one parent, but rather that of a mature young man who sees 

more opportunities for his future and who is seeking the benefits and support that come 

from the closer emotional bond he shares with his father.  

IV. Petitioner Elizabeth Vaughan’s Application for Rule to Show Cause 

The undersigned was appointed as Guardian ad Litem in this matter for T . 

As Guardian ad Litem, the undersigned believes his Closing Argument should be limited 

in scope to the issue of modification of custody, and that any opinion regarding the 

Application for Rule to Show Cause falls outside of his role as Guardian ad Litem and it 

would be inappropriate to make argument regarding that matter. 

V. Conclusion 

Although all custody cases are unique, this one in particular has its own challenges 

for the Court. Generally speaking, the courts do not want to base custody decisions solely 

upon the desires of minor children. Children can be very opinionated, but often what 
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they want is not what is in their best interest. So, at first glance, when a court is presented 

with a custody modification based largely upon the desires of a minor child it is easy to 

say the Court should dismiss the request. 

This case is not so simple. This case does not involved a spoiled, petulant child 

who is upset because he has stricter rules in one home, or who is rebelling against an 

unpopular step-parent (in fact, T  testified that he had a good relationship with Jon, 

his stepfather). This is not a case where one parent can physically provide for a child and 

another clearly cannot. Finally, this is not a case where a child has failed to thrive in a 

home.  

Instead, this is a case where both parents clearly love their son, as both have fought 

very hard in this court action, spending a great deal of time and money to do what they 

feel is best for their child. This case also involves a mature sixteen-year-old, one who by 

all accounts is a thoughtful, sensitive young man with a wide variety of interests who 

makes friends easily and is well-liked. In several cases with similar minor children, the 

courts have held that in cases such as this one the minor child’s preference can be a reason 

for modification and should be given great weight. 

While T  and Elizabeth do not have the best relationship, Elizabeth has helped 

raise Ta  to be the young man he is today and there is no argument that he has thrived. 

She has provided him with a home, enrolled him in an excellent school, and been 

supportive of his many activities. She has also arranged for counseling since his return 

from Delaware to help with the current situation.  

Steve was not physically present due to the distance between he and T , he 
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but he still played a role in T ’s upbringing. He saw T on his school breaks, and 

he offered him constant support. T  and Steve clearly have a strong bond and T  

looks to Steve for support. Too often that bond is not present in noncustodial parents who 

reside in the same town, left alone half a country away. Steve has offered T  a great 

deal of emotional support and encouragement, something that is difficult to quantify but 

extremely important for a young adult. 

The behavior by both parents in the months leading up to this action has been less 

than ideal. There are concerning reports regarding T  being bullied by his brother 

and his brother’s friends at school, sometimes based upon information B could have 

only received from his mother. T felt that his mother was very cold and did not 

understand the difficult time he went through with his grandparents’ passing. And while 

Elizabeth did give T space when he returned from Delaware, she did not participate 

in any counseling with him or take affirmative steps to improve her relationship with 

him. 

Steve’s failure to communicate with Elizabeth last summer is highly concerning. 

If Steve wishes to serve as a custodial parent, he must understand that he needs to 

communicate with the noncustodial parent. Just as it was important for Elizabeth to help 

maintain T ’s relationship with Steve, so too will it be important for Steve to help 

maintain T ’s relationship with Elizabeth. Failing to encourage communication 

between T  and his mother would be absolutely unacceptable and not in T ’s 

best interest. T  needs to maintain a relationship with his mother, his siblings, and 

his extended family in Iowa.  
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Both parties appear to believe their sons are old enough to make decisions 

regarding where they stay. Elizabeth believed Steve should have accepted B ’s 

decision to not want to visit during his winter and summer breaks, despite there being a 

custody order that required it. Steve felt Elizabeth should have accepted T ’s decision 

to want to live in Delaware, despite his failure to discuss it with Elizabeth first. Both 

parents want the other parent to respect and listen to the child whose opinion matches 

their own. Neither parent believes the child who disagrees with them should have a say 

in where they stay.  

What the court must consider in all of this is what is in T ’s best interest. At 

this time, it is in T ’s best interest to live with his father. T  has clearly 

communicated this to anyone who will listen for the past eight months. He has put a great 

deal of thought into this decision and continued to work through it with a counselor. 

Even after returning to Iowa and going back to school with his friends at Notre Dame, 

T  has maintained that he still desires to live with his father in Delaware.  

Both parents can provide for T  physically. Both can ensure that he is enrolled 

in school, that he attends medical appointments, that he plans for the future. But at this 

moment, only Steve is able to provide T  with the emotional support that he requires. 

This has not been an easy decision for T , and it does not mean that Elizabeth has 

done something wrong. Emotional health is critical for all, especially for young adults as 

they prepare to go out on their own. T  has a strong bond with his father, and because 

of that bond and their relationship, Steve can provide superior parenting to T at this 

time. It would be in T ’s best interest for the custody in this matter to be modified so 
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that he is placed in Steve’s care, and for visitation over breaks to be with his mother.  
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IN  THE  INTEREST  OF
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juvenile  court  are shown  below  in column  A. Their  respective  attorneys'

names,  lawfirms,  addresses,  and  telephone  numbers  are showi  belowin

column  B,
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Appellant: DestinyHarris,Mother JoshuaP.Schier
CrayLawFirm
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State of  Iowa Effi  Stensvaag

Des Moines  CountyAttomey

Office

100  ValleyStreet

Burlington,  IA  52601

(319) 753-8209

MARY  A  TRIICK

Assistant  AttorneyGeneral

Hoover  State Office  Building

1305  E.  Walnut  Street,  2nd

Floor

Des  Moines,  Iowa  50319

GuardianAd  Litem

Van  '\X7e  Law  Ofafice

204 Jefferson St.
Burlington,  IA  52601

(319) 752-4585

1. ThisPetitiononAppealisfiledonbehalfofAmberWoodward,themother,

inffie  above  identified  Child  in  Need  of  Assistance  proceedings,  with  respect

to  the children:

a'iildren's  names Dates  of  Birth

L.H. 08/05/2017

J.H. 02/09/2016

CH. 02/02/2013

D.H. 04/25/2011

2. The  statutoryground(s)  the child  was adjudicated  in need  of  assistance  was

IowaCodeSection232.2(6)(c)(2),232.2(6)(e)  and232.2(6)(g)  astothemother
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and fpther,

3. Appellant's attomey, Joshua P. Scier, is the attorney who represented

appellant  at the initial  permanencyheaffig.

4, Therearenootherpendingappealsinvolvingthechildren.

5. The  relevant  dates regarding  this appeal  are the following:

a. Date of adjudication June 14, 2018

b. Date  of  last removal  (excluding  anytrial  pe.tiod  at home  of less April  30, 2018

than  30 days)

c.  Date  of  disposition July26, 2018

d. Date(s)  of anyreviewhearings  November  1, 2018

e. Date  of  anypermanencyhearing  April  11, 2019

f. Date(s)terminationpetitionfiled/amended  n/a

g. Date(s)  of  termination  heaffig

h. Dates of  child  in need of  assistance  order(s)  fromwhich  appeal April  12, 2019

n/a

was  taken

i, Date  of  termination  or  dismissal  order  from  which  appeal  was  n/a

taken

).  Dateofpost-terminationorderfromwhichappealwastaken  n/a

k. Date  notice  of appeal  filed  April  26, 2019
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6. Nature  of  case and relief  sought:  The Appellant  seeks a reversal of the

juvenile  court  order  determining  that a six month  extension  was necessary

and that the placement  of the children  in farnilyfoster  care continues  to be

necessary, that the return  of the children  to the parents'  custodywould  be

contraryto the w&are of the children in interest and that L.H,, J.H., C.H,

and D.H. shall remain in the custody  of the Iowa  Department  of Human

Servicesforcontinuedplacementinfamilyfostercare.  TheAppellantseeks

the return  of the children  to her custodyand  care.

7. State the material  facts as thevrelate  to the issues  presented  for  appeal:

On April  30, 2018, the parties' four  minor  children  were  temporarily

removedandplacedinfostercare.  OnMayl,2018  aaNApetitionwas  filed,

adjudication occurred on June 14, 2018. The Gourt found  that clear and

convincing evidence existed to support adjudication under Iowa Code S

232.2(6)(C)(2) (failure tO exercise a reasonable degree of care in supervising

the child), Iowa Code S 232.2(6)(e) (cMdwas  in need of medicaltreatment),

and Iowa Code S 232.2(6)(g) (parent  failed  to supplythe  child  with  adequate

food, clotg  or shelter). The Court  found  that  the facts were  not  sufficient

to support  the children  were children  in need of assistance  under  Iowa  Code

S 232.2(6)(n), specificallyfindingthatnotestimonyorevidencewas  presented

that anyof  the children  were not  provided  with  adequate care because of  the
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parents'  illegal substance  use or  mental  health  conditions.  At  the time  of

adjudication,  the Court  found  that  the parents  had moved  to  the Burlington

areafromTennessee  approximatelythree  months  ago.  The  parents,  A,H.  and

D.H.,  did not  have adequate housing,  as they  and their  four  cMdren  were

sharing  one  sman bedroom  with  only  an air  mattress  on  the floor  for  the

motherandcMdrentosleepon.  TheCourtfurtherfoundthatthechildCH.

had severelyrotten  and decaying  teeth  wffich  the parents  had lmowledge  of

but had not yet addressed. The cMdren L.:E-L andJ.H. had not had well-baby

checks since  their  birth,  and the cod  D.H.  had never  been enroned  in  or

attended  anytype  of educational  program.  The Court  further  found  that  the

parents  did refuse to  provide  consent  for  anyof  the children  to  be seen  bya

physician  and/or  dentist  when  the cMdren  were  removed  and placed in

farnilyfoster  care.  However,  when  the child  D.H.  was  ill  in  the foster  home,

the parents  did grant  consent  for  him  to be seen  by a physician  for  that

ennergenCy.

DHS  also testffied  that  the children's  father,  A.H.,  admitted  to  smoking

marijuana  and the  children's  mother,  D.H.,  admitted  to  taking  one

prescription  pain  pill  of her  sister's  one  time  while  supervising  the cMdren.

However,  the Coutt  found  that  there  was no  testimonyor  evidence  that  any

of the children  were  not  provided  adequate care  as a result  of the parents'
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illegalsubstance  use, andthere  was  no evidence  regardingthe  parents'  mental

health  conditions  resulting  in  the children  not  receiving  adequate  care.

DispositionoccurredonJuly26,2018. Atthattime,theCourtfoundthat

the parents  continued  to reside in a home  that  was not  appropriate  for  the

children,  but  A.H.  had  recentlyobtained  employment  andD.H  was going  to

applyfor  low-income  housing  soon. The Gourt  found  that  the parents  were

making  progress  toward  reunification  of  the children.

Areviewhearing  was held  onNovember  1, 2018,  atwhichtime  the Court

addressed  the parents'  hesitency  to sign authorizations  for  the children's

medical,  dental,  and educational  needs and releases for  DHS.  The  parents

did reviewthe  docutnents  and  sign  the necessarywaivers  and  releases at the

heaffig.  The Court  found  that  for  reunification  to occur,  the parents  must

fullyparticipate  inallservices  providedtothembythe  Department,  promptly

sign all releases and authoiations  needed  for  the cMdren's  care and

participate  m consistent  and meaningf"ul  contact  with  the children  at the

discretion  of  the Department.

Permanency  hea.ting  was held  on April  11, 2019.  The father  was not

present  for  the hearing.  The  mother  requested  that  the children  be retumed

to her  care, citing  that  the she had obtained  an appropriate  three-bedroom

apartment  and the children's  medicaltreatment  had  been  addressed  overthe
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last severalmonths.  The Gourt  foundthat  the cMdren  could  not  be retunned

to the custody  of their  parents  at that date, but  that  a six-month  extension

was  appropriate.

8. State the legal issues presented  for  appeal, including  a statement  of howthe

issues aroseandhowtheywerepreservedforappeal.Also,statewhatfindings

of  fact  orconclusions  of  lawthe  district  court  made withwhichyou  disagree

and why, generally  referencing  a particular  part  of the record,  witnesses'

testimony,  or  exhibits  that  support  your  position  on  appeal.

a. Issue  I: Whether  the Court  erred in  finding  that  a six  month  extension

was necessaryandthatthe  cMdren  could  not  be returnedto  theirparents

at the time  of  the PermanencyHeaffig.

Was  error  preserved?  x  yes no.  If  yes,  state  how:  Enorwas

preservedbyraisingthe  issue atthetime  of  heaigandthetirnelyfilingofNotice

of  Appeal.

Supporting  legal  authority  for  Issue  I:

Iowa  Code '§ 232.102

Iowa  Gode (§ 232.104

Iowa  Gode '§ 232.106

In re RF.,  471 N.W.2d  821, 824 (Iowa  19910

In re: A.G.,  0.5.,  and ,S'.S., LEX[S  383, '10  (Iowa  Ct. App.  2015)
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Findings  of  fact  or conclusions  of  law  with  which  you  disagree:

The  placement  of  the children  in familyfoster  care continues  to  be

necessary  because  of  the parents'  lack  of  a sffe  and stable home,

the parents'  refusal  to participate  in any  reunification  service

provided  to them,  the parents'  refusal  to address the extensive

neglect  of  the cMdren  while  in their  care, the parents'  inabilityto

care forthe  children  on  adailybasis  and  provide  foralltheirneeds,

the unaddressed  mental  health  concerns  of  the parents,  ent

risk  of  harm  and death  of  the cffldren  in their  parents'  custody,

entriskof  neglect  ofthe  childreninthe  parents'  custody,  and

the children's  young  age and inabilityto  self-protect.  Pe.tmanency

Order,  at 4 (April  12, 2019).

The  Court  erred  in  finding  that  the cMdren  could  not  be returned  to the

custody  of their  parents  at the time of Permanency  Hearing.  Iowa  Code (§

232.104(2')(ai.  The Code's preference  is to permit  children  to remain  at home

withtheirparents,  as long  as the cMdren  are safe. In  this  case, the State failedto

prove  by  clear  and convincuig  evidence  that  the children  could  not  safely  be

returned  to  their  parent's  care and  that  there  would  be ent  ik  of  harm  K

the cMldren were retumed. Iowa Code S 232.102(6).

Parents'  Lack  of  a Safe and  Stable  Home.  The  C)ourt  erred  in  finding

thatthecMdrencouldnotberetumedhome.  TheCourtfoundthattheparents

lacked  a safe and stable  home,  but  at the time  of  the heaffig  the parents  had

obtained  a safe and stable residence.  D.H.  testified  that  the parents  had been

approved  for  a three-bedroom  apartment  and that  she and A.H.  would  be

movmg  into  the apartment  the next  day  (the day  the Permanency  Order  was
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actuallyissued).  Mothers'  Exhibit  A. DHS  also testifaiedthatthe Departmenthad

agreed to assist with  first  month's  rent.  At  the time  of the Permanencyheaffig,

the familyhad  sffe  and stable housing.

Refusal  to  Participate  in  Reunification  Services.  Anotherreason  cited

by  the Court  to prevent  the retunn  of the children  was that the parents  had

refused  to participate  in any  reunification  service  provided  to them. DHS

testfied  at the hearing  that over the last several months,  the parents  had

participated  in meaningful  visitation  with  their  children.  Those visits  were

supervised  byFSRP  and recentlymoved  to  semi-supervised.  Thus,  the parents

had contact  with  FSRP services  three  times  a weekfor  several  months.  Further,

it was  the testimony  of DHS  that  the parents  recently  agreed to  participate  in

parenting  sessions.  DHS also noted, however,  that there were  never  any

parenting  concerns  forthe  parents  during  theirvisits.  The parents  maynot  have

participated  in as manyparenting  sessions  as the Department  would  have liked,

but  there  was no evidence  thatthere  was  a deficiencyintheirparenting  abilityor

that  this placed  the children  in  imminent  harm.

Medical  Needs.  One of the main  issues  at adjudication  had been the

medical  needs of the cMdren.  By Permanency,  however,  the parents  had

addressed these issues. They  signed all necessary  releases and waivers.  They
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participated  in  doctors'  appointments.  Theyshowed  an active  interest  inthe  care

of  their  children.

Inability  to Care  for  the Children.  The Court  erred  in finding  that  the

parents  refusedto  address  the  extensive  neglect  of  the childrenwMe  intheircare

and  that  the parents  were  unable  to care for  their  children  on a daily  basis and

provide  foralltheirneeds.  DHS  testifiedthatthere  were  no concerns  regarding

the  parent's  abilityto  care forthe  cMdren  duffig  visits.  Outside  those  times,  the

parents  have  not  hadthe  opportunityto  showthattheycan  care forthe  children

on a dayto  day  basis. Their  time  with  the cMdren  has been  restricted  to tffiee

visits  aweekatthe  FSRP  provider's  offices.  Dutigthose  visits  the  parents  have

been  attentive  to  their  children  and provided  them  with  snacks and  meals.  The

parents  have  done  allthat  theycan  to showthat  the children's  needs can be met

in  the  limited  opportunities  that  theyhave  been  given.

Even  more  telling,  the parents  have showi  the ability  to care for  their

youngest  cod,  an infant.  Since  the inception  of  this  case a fffth  child  was bom

to the parents.  The  babyhas  never  been  removed,  is not  the subject  to of  any

court  proceedings,  and  is in fact  '  in  the parents'  care. The  parents  have

shown  that  theycan  care for  a babyt&ough  their  care of  the youngest  who  is

still  with  them.  When  a child  can be safelycared  for  bytheir  parents,  and  there

are no distinguisg  factors  that  would  indicate  the others  could  not  also be
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caredfor,the  Courts  have heldthat  othercMdren  couldalso  be returnedtotheir

parents.  Iff  re: A.G.,  0.5.,  wd  S.S., LEX[S  383, '10  (Iowa  Ct. App.  2015).  Put

anotherway,  if ahelpless  babycan  be left  inthe  parents  care andthrive,  it shows

that  theycan  take care of  the older  cffldren  as well.

Finally,  the Court  further  found  that  the cMdren  could  not  return  home

because of the parents'  unaddressed  mental  health  concerns.  Much  of the

testirnonybyDHS  focusedonthe  parents'  mentalhealthconcerns  andsubstance

abuse concems.  The parents  had been ordered  to complete  substance  abuse

evaluations  and mental  health  evaluations.  However,  when  a Court  enters  an

order  irnposuig  terms and conditions  on parents,  "the  order  shan state the

reasons  for  and purpose  of  the terms  and conditions."  Iowa  Code  '§ 232.106(1).

However,  the record  dating  back  to adjudication  shows  that  mental  health  and

substance  abuse was not  the reason  for  the removal  of the cMdren  nor  the

reason  forthe  adjudication  of  the children.  In  fact,  the Court  specificallystated

in  the Adjudication  Orderthat  "there  was  no testirnonyor  evidence  that  anyof

the cMdren  were  not  provided  with  adequate  care as a result  of the parents'

illegal  substance  use,  and there  was  no evidence  regarding  the parents'  mental

health  conditions  resulted  in the  children  not  receiving  adequate  care."

Adjudication  Orderat  2-3.

11



Priorto  Permanency,  none  of  the Court's  orders  had  stated  anyreason  or

purpose  for  mental  health  evaluations  and substance  abuse  evaluations.

Nevertheless,  and despite  the  testimonyof  DHS  that  there  was  never  a concern

or indication  of the mother  using illegal  substances,  D.H.  did complete  a

substance  abuse evaluation  wich  was  filed  with  the Court  on April  10, 2019,

which  recommendedno  treatment.  D.H  also agreedto  go above  and  beyond  by

submitting  to a mental  health  evaluation,  wich  had  been  scheduled  at the  time

of  the  Permanencyheaffig.

There  is no  evidence  of  imtninent  risk  of  harm  and death  of  the cMdren

in their  parents'  custody,  nor  imminent  risk  of neglect.  The parents  have

addressed  the issues  on  which  this aNA  was  founded,  housing  and providing

medical  care.  The mother  has gone even  futther  with  a substance  abuse

evaluation  and the  scheduling  of a mental  health  evaluation.  Visits  are

appropriate  and reflect  the deep bond  that  exists between  the parents  and  their

cMdren.  No  concerns  have been  noted  regarding  the parenting  of  the children

duffig  their  visits.  The cMdren  are in school  or daycare,  with  mandatory

reporters.  Mosttelling,the  parents  have  supportedandcaredforaninfant  duffig

tffi  case  andthatchildis  thriving  intheircare.  The  Courts  have foiu'idthatthere

is rebuttablepresumptionthatthecMdren's  bestinterests  areservedby

, and  the State has failed  to  provide  clear  and  convincing  evidence  that

12



overcomes  that presumption.  In re RF.,  471 N.W.2d  821, 824 (Iowa 1991).

(emphasis  added).

b. Issue  II: Whether  the Court  errored  in finding  that  the placement  of the

children  in  familyfoster  care  continues  to  be necessary.

Was  error  preseived?  x yes no.  If  yes,  state  how:  Error

was preserved  byraising  the issue at the time of  heaffig  and the timelyfiling  of

Notice  of  Appeal.

Supporting  legal  authority  for  Issue  II:

Iowa  Code § 232.99

Iowa  Code § 232.101

Iowa  Code § 232.102

Iowa  Code § 232.106

Ifl  re R.B., 832 N.W.2d  375, 380 (Iowa  Ct. App.  2013).

Findings  of  fact  or conclusions  of  law  with  which  you  disagree:

The placement  of  the children  in familyfoster  care is an appropriate  placement

for  the children  because it is the least restrictive,  most  family-like  and most

appropriate  settuig  available,  in close proxunity  to  the children's  parents  and

consistent  with  the best interest  and special  needs of  the children.  Permanency

Order  at 4 (April  12, 2019).
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healthifectingthe  parents'  abilityto  care  fortheirchildren,  andthatno  previous

order  had stated  the reasons  for  and purposes  for  substance  abuse evaluations

and mental  health evaluations,  it is no surpie  that the parents  had not

completed  these tasks. The children  were  removed  and adjudicated  because of

housing  and medical  neglect.  The parents  addressed  these issues.  Thus,  the least

restrictive  placement  is with  the parents.

It  is in  the best interests  of children  to  be placed  with  their  parents.  I/!  re

RF.,  471 N,W.2d  821, 824 (Iowa  1991). The Court  noted  that  the family  was

"tremendously  bonded."  Permanency  Order  at  3. DHS testified  in  the

Permanencyheaffig  that  all the children  were  bonded  to  their  parents,  and the

cMldren  did want  to return  home. The children  have been in  multiple  foster

homes  and are  not  allcurrentlyplaced  together.  Itwould  be intheirbest  interest

to  be placedtogetheras  afamilywiththeirparents  ifthere  are no  safetyconcems.

DHS  testified  that  there  were  not  concerns  with  the mother's  abilityto

parentthe  cMdren,  norconcems  thatD.H.  has used illegalsubstances.  DHS  was

concerned  that  if  the children  were  retunned  to  the mother,  theywould  not  have

access  to  the children,  to  the home,  to ensure  siety.  D.H.,  however,  testified

that  she would  have no  issue  with  allowing  DHS  into  her  home  to  checkon  the

children.  Any  concems  that DHS  may  have can certainly  be addressed by

following  up  withthe  familywhile  the children  are inthe  parents'  care.  The  least
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restrictive  placementintffi  case thatwould  be inthe  best interest  ofthe  children

would  be to place themwith  their  parents.

9. I herebycertfythat  I will  request  wit  30 days afterthe  filing  of  the notice

of  appealthat  the clerkof  the trial  coiut  transmit  imrnediatelyto  the clerkof  the

supreme  court:

a. The child  in need of  assistance court  file,  including  an exhibits.

b. Anytranscript  of a cod  in need of  assistance heaffig  from  wffich  an

appeal  has been taken.

The undersigned  requests that the appellate court  issue an opinion

reversingthe  orderofthe  juvenile  courtinthis  matter,  or, inthe  alternative,  enter

anordersettingthis  caseforfullbriefing.

yLawFirm,  PLC

420 N. Roosevelt  Ave.,  Ste. 110

Burlington,  IA  52601

Phone:  (319) 752-4537

Fax: (319) 753-2712

Email:  jpschier@craylawfirm.com
ATTORNEY  FOR  THE  MOTHER

DES'nNY  HARRIS

ATI'ACHMENTS:

aiild  in need of assistance proceedings:

(1) PermanencyOrder
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CERTIFICATE  OF  SERVICE

The iu'idersigned  certifies  a copyof  this combined  certificate  was  served  on  the

I0th day of May, 2019 upon  the fonowing persons  and upon  the clerk  of the

supreme  court:

/s/  Joshua P. Schier

SERVED  ON:

Effi  Stensvaag

Des Moines  CountyAttomeyOffice

100 ValleyStreet

Burlington,  IA  52601

(319) 753-8209

MaryA.  Tick

Assistant  AttorneyGeneral

Hoover  State Office  Building

1305 E. Walnut  Street,  2nd  Floor

Des Moines,  Iowa  50319

Heidi  D. Van  Winkle

204 Jefferson St.
Burlington,  IA  52601

(319) 752-4585

William  Monroe

218 North  3'  St, Suite 300

Burlington,  IA  52601

(319) 754-1402
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